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RESULTS IN BRIEF 
. . 

We initiated this investigation in Julyiof 2006 after receiving allegations from a confidential 
source (CS) that improprieties were occurring within the Minerals Managen1ent Service's 
(MMS) Royalty in Kind Program (iuK). 

The CS specifically alleged that RIKmarketers had developed inappropriate relationships with 
representatives of oil companies doing business with the U.S. Department ofthe Interior (DOl). 
The CS asserted that the inappropriate relationships included RIK employees frequently 
attending oil and gas industry social functions· and accepting gifts from company representatives. 

Our investigation confirmed that between January 1,2002, c:,md July 2006, 19 RIK marketers and 
other RIK employees - approximately 1/3 of the entire RIK' staff- had socialized with, and had 
received a wide array of gifts from, 'oil and gas companies 'with whom the employees were 
conducting official business. With respect to eight specific RIK employees, these gifts exceeded 
the allowable limits. 

We also diSCOvered that two of the RIK employees who accepted gifts also held unauthorized 
outside employment. Both of these employees had failed to seek MMS approval for their outside 
work and similarly failed to report the income they received from this work on their financial 
disclosure forms. In addition, we learned that one MMS employee, not affiliated with the RIK 
Program, had received approval for outside work but had failed to report the income received 
from it. 

Finally, our investigation revealed an organizational culture lacking acceptance of government 
ethical standards, inappropriate personal behaviors, and a program without the necessary internal 
controls in place to prevent future unethical or unlawful behavior. 

We are forwarding this report to the Assistant Secretary for Land and Minerals Management for 
whatever adverse action he deems appropriate for the DOl employees involved. 

BACKGROUND
 

Minerals Management Service 

MMS manages the nation's natural mineral resources on the Outer Continental Shelfand on 
some federal and Indian lands. MMS also collects, accounts for, and disburses more than 
$8 billion per year in revenue from these offshore and onshore mineral leases. Two major 
programs comprise MMS - Offshore Minerals Management and Minerals Revenue Management. 
(MRM). Offshore MineralS Management manages the mineral resources in federal waters, while 
MRM is responsible for nianaging all revenues associated with offshore and onshore federal 
mineral leases. Together, these programs are one of the federal government's greatest sources of 
non-tax revenues. 



MRM processes rents and royalties from nearly 70,000 leases annually and employs 
approximately 600 federal and3bOcoIltract personnel. The Federal Oil and Gas Royalty 
Management Act of 1982, 30U.S.C. §1701, and the Federal Oil and Gas Royalty Simplification 
and Fairness Act of 1996, 30U~S.C. § 1701, form the basis for MRM oversight and regulatory 
enforcement activities. 

c, 

MRM collects royalties from oil and gas companies through requirements established in two 
types of leases. Royalty in Value (RN) leases require that the lessee pay the federal 
government, through MRM, a percentageofthe monetary value of the oil or gas brought to the 
market. RIK leases differ in that MRM takes possession of a percentage of the product (oil or 
gas) at a designated delivery point, which is often the platform where the oil or gas is brought to 
the surface. MRM then markets and sells it. 

According to statistics maintained byMMS, RIK sells over 800 million cubic feet of natural gas 
and 150,000 barrels of oil every day. The value ofRIK ,oil and gas sales in fiscal year (FY) 2006 
was reported at over $4 billion, or approximately $11 million per day. 

In addition to marketing and selling oil and gas, RIK is responsible for transporting and 
processing these products. Because RIK does not own or operate any pipelines or processing 
plants, it contracts with oil and gas companies for these services. At the end ofFY 2006, RIK 
reported holding 32 contracts for the sale or exchange of oil and gas. During this same period, it 
also held 97 contracts for transportation, processing, and miscellaneous services. These 97 
contracts were valued at approximately $29 million. 

RIK 

MMS initiated a feasibility study in 1997 of the U.S. Government taking its oil and gas royalties 
in kind, rather than in value, and then competitively selling the commodities on the open market. 
The study concluded that this approach would not only be workable but would also be more' 
efficient for both MMS and the industry. Further, the study team concluded that this approach 
would be revenue neutral or positive. 

After a series of successful pilot projects, MMS published the Road Map to the Future: 
Implementing Royalty in Kind Business Processes and Support Systems. The Road Map called 
for full implementation ofthe RIK Program by December 2003. MMS then engaged a well­
known energy consulting group to help develop RIK's first 5-year plan, which was published in 
M~WM. . 

The RIK Program director reports directly to theMRM associate.director in Washington, D.C. 
Despite being located in Lakewood, CO, the deputyassociate director for MRM has no line or 
supervisory authority over the RIKProgran:1 director orthe program's personnel. 

Between approximately 2001 and 2004, GregorySnri,thserved as the deputy program director of 
RIK. He then served as the directorih 2005, untilJat1ual"y'2007 when he was detailed to another . 

. section within MRM. Smith, as the RIK director,reporteddirectly to Associate Director Lucy 
Querques Denett in Washington, DiC.Smith retired on May 26,2007. 
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RIK Program employees work in fOUf separate areas: the "Front Office" which markets and sells 
oil and gas; the "Mid Office," which handles contracting, risk control, and credit issues; the 
"Back Office," which handlesaccountingJunctions; and the "Economic Analysis Office," which 
helps evaluate bids and measureS the performance ofRIK contracts. Agent's Note: The RIK 
Program set up its organizational structure to mirror a standard oil or gas company 
infrastructure. 

The RIK oil and gas marketers who are assigned to the "Front Office" are responsible for 
gathering and analyzing infortnation concerning MMS leases and the feasibility of converting 
RIV leases to RIK leases. ill addition, they gather and analyze information on the sale and 
transportation ofoil and gas and use it to determine the best possible disposition for RIK's oil 
and gas. Most significantly, they receive, review, and select bids submitted by oil and gas 
companies on RIK properties and work with industry personnel on modifications to sales and 
other contracts. Due to the nature of their responsibilities, RIK oil and gas marketers interact 
extensively with oil and gas industry represeptatives. 

Applicable Regulations, Standards, and Policies 

All MMS employees are subject to a myriad of federal ethics standards, regulations, ap.d Dor 
policies that serve to govern their personal behavior. Those noted below are particularly 
germane to this investigation. 

The Standards ofEthical Conduct for Employees ofthe Executive Branch states the.following, in 
part: 

[Employees] shall endeavor to avoid any actions creating the appearance that they 
are violating the law or the ethical standards .... Whether particular circumstances 
create an appearance that the law or these standards have been violated shall be 
determined from the perspective of a reasonable person with knowledge of the 
relevant facts (5 CFR 2635.101(b)(l4)) ....[Employees] shall not, directly or 
indirectly, solicit or accept a gift:(l) From a prohibited source; or (2) Given 
because of the employee's official position (5 CFR §2635.202(a)) ....[Employees] 
may not accept gifts from the same or different sources on a basis so frequent that 
a reasonable person would be led to believe the employee is using public office 
for private gain (5 CFR 2635.202(c)(3)). 

Agent's Note: A prohibited source is defined by regulation as "any person, company, or 
organization that conducts business with or . is seeking to conduct business with the employee's 

.. 

.agency, or that has any interest which·may be affected by the employee's official duties. " 

Further, the Office of Government Ethics has issued a regulation that allows only limited 
9ircumstances in which employees may acct;:ptgifts:/foluprolribited sources. Specifically, 
llpsolicited gifts valued at $20 or less, per occasi()l1' P1,a-ypyaycepted. However, gifts from any 
single prohibited source may not exceed $59 ill ~l)x;wyenRalendar year. 
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Outside Employment Policy 

MMS policy requires that all of its employees who wish to engage in outside employment report 
this employment to their supervisor for approval or denial. This process is documented through 

,)1.	 the employee's completion of a "Request to Engage in Outside Work or Activity" form, which 
must be signed by the employee, his or het supervisor, a management official, and a 
representative ofthe MMS Ethics Office. 

This process is intended to ensure that an employee's outside employment does not bonflict with 
the primary responsibilities to MMS. In addition, earned income exceeding $200 from any 
outside employment must be reported on the employee's "Confidential Financial Disclosure 
Report" (Office of Government Ethics Form 450). 

DETAILS OF INVESTIGATION 
, 

In July 2006, we began this investigation after receiving allegations from a confidential source 
(CS) concerning improprieties Qccurring within the MMS RIK.Program. The CS specifically 
alleged that RIK marketers had developed inappropriate relationships with representatives ofoil 
companies doing business with DOl. The CS claimed that the inappropriate relationships 
included RIK employees frequently attending oil and gas industry social functions and acceptil1g 
gifts from company representatives. . 

We focused our initial investigation on the specific allegations made by the CS and later 
expanded our investigation to include unreported outside employment and/or income. We also 
spent considerable time examining the organizational culture ofRIK, which appeared to be 
devoid ofboth the ethical standards and internal controls sufflcient to protect the integrity ofthis 
vital revenue-producing program. 

Recognizing the investigative challenges associated with a complex program such as RIK, we 
created ail investigative team composed ofcriminal investigators, computer forensics specialists, 
criminal research specialists, and auditors. During the course of the investigation, we conducted 
over 100 interviews with MMS employees and industry representatives, many multiple times, 
and ultimately reviewed thousands of e-mails, company expense records, contract files, and other 
r~levant documents. We sought and obtained numerous individuals' personal banking records as 
well as expense reports and related records from four specific oil and gas companies. Agent's 

.Note: Between October 2007 and May 2008, we undertook extensive efforts to interviewfive 
Chevron employees. Despite these efforts, the~e emplQyees ultimately declined to be 
interviewed. Additionally, a former Shell employee declined to be interviewed by DOl-DIG 
agents. 

We have organized our investigativefilldingsintotwpsectiorts. The first section briefly 
surnmarizesthe programmatic failurysidellti:fiedduring the course of our investigation, which 
created the environment in whichRJl{ eri).ployyessocialized with, and accepted gifts from, 

. industry representatives without regardfOf ethical standards, regulations, and DOl policies. The 
second section of the report describes,by ~IllPl()yee,specificmisbehavior as well as the 

.statements made by those employees and relevant industry repre~entatives. 
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A review of ethics training files disclosed that Cobb received ethics training in 2001,2004, and 
2006. A review of Cobb's cash aWl:\Tds from MMS for 2002 through 2006 revealed a total of 
$9,128. 

Through interviews and a review 9foil and gas company expense records, we found that 
between 2004 and 2006, Cobb accepted nine meals/drinks valued at approximately $236. These 
meals/drinks were paid for by industry representatives, as follows: 

$42 

$30 

$164 
$2369 

3 

4 

2$42 
$164 
$206 

3 
2 
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$30 

$30 

4 

4 
2006 
2005 

2004 

Total 

Our review ofChevron representatives' expense reports disclosed that Cobb was listed four 
times, all on 1 day, at Ji1Hans, a restaurant in Denver. Our review of GWEC representatives' 
expense reports disclosed that Cobb was listed five times, all for  

,When  Cobb admitted frequent social contacts with Rob Saunders of GWEC. He 
.also did not dispute the accuracy of Saunders' expense account noted above and further said, 
"No, it's probably a violation on my part." Cobb said Saunders nevt;r asked for him to execute 
any official act because of the meals, and Cobb never offered anything in exchange for receiving 
the meals. 

Cobb said he remembered being at Jillians with the Chevron representatiYes and remembered 
them buying him a couple ofdrinks. He said the Chevron representatives may have also ordered 
themselves food. 

We interviewed Rob Saunders, Assistant Treasurer, GWEC. As treasurer, Saunders said he dealt 
with credit and securities issues for GWEC and said his main contact at RIK was Cobb. He 
confirmed that he purchased meals for Cobb and estimated Cobb's portion as identified in the 
expense table above. 

Saunders stated that he routinelytook indiv,iduals to dinner from companies that GWEC bought 
crude oil from to build rapport. By building rapport, Saunders said he felt the individuals were 

.more comfortable assigning open credit to GWEC in conjunction with the oil that GWEC 
purchased. He said meal purchases were merely a way to say GWEC appreciated doing business 
with companies. Saunders said on one or two occasions, Cobb may have purchased meals 
valued at approximately $10 for him. 
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8. Karen Krock 

Karen Krock, a former RIK oil marketing specialist, has been employed by NLMS since 2000. 
She worked as an RIK oil marketing speCialist from 2002 through 2004; then she moved to 
MMS's Offshore Minerals Management Qffice in New Orleans as a management analyst. 

A review ofethics training files disclosed that Krock received ethics training in 2000, 2002, 
2003, and 2006. There were no cash awards from MMS given to Krock from 2002 through 2004. 

Through interviews and a review of oil and gas company expense records, we found that during 
2003 and 2004, Krock accepted 10 meals/drinks valued at approximately $198. These 
meals/drinks were paid for by industry representatives, as follows: . 

I r 
t 
t 

2003 7 $121 2 $27 9 $148 

2004 1 $50 1 $50 

Total 8 $171 2 $27 10 $198 

- When interviewed, Krock either did no~ recall these meals or she claimed the amounts were too 
high. Even after reviewing the individual entries on the company expense reports for both 
Chevron and Shell, she continued to claim that she never violated government gift limits when 
dining with industry employees. Krock did recall receiving a free ticket to a Colorado Rockies 
game, which she thought Chevron bought for her. She could not recall when that game took 
place. 

/ 

When we interviewed Shell's Alan Raymond, he had a vague recollection ofbuying Krock and 
Edler dinner in Houston onJanuary 9,2003, as reflected on his expense report. 

9. RIKRevenue Specialist 

An RIK revenue specialist originally began working for MMS in 1990 as an auditor. In Jurie 
2002, he became a revenue specialist in the RIK Program. 

A review of ethics training files disclosed that the revenue specialist received ethics training in 
2002, 2003, and 2006. 

. Through interviews and a review of oil and gas company expense records, we found that in 2004, 
the revenue specialist was listed on Chevron's expense reports three times. Two were related to 
a paintball game and the third was at a restaurant, all ofwhich occurred the same day. The total 
estimated value ofthe revenue specialist's share of these expenses was approximately $90, as 
follows: 
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When interviewed, the revenue specialist recalled playing in a paintball game with Leyshon and 
Chevron employees. According to the revenue specialist, Leyshon invited him to the outing and 
he met the other participants·at the paintball game location. 

The revenue specialist said he did 1].ot know how much it cost for him to play paintball and he 
did not know who paid for his participation. He was not concerned that Chevron might have 
paid for his participation or that it might be considered a gift. 

The reVenue specialist said that ifhe and Leyshon had discussed the cost of the paintball, 
Leyshon probably told him not to worry about it or that she would pay. The revenue spe«ialist 
stated that after the paintball game, the group met at a restaurant for appetizers. . 

DISPOSITION 

I 

This report is being referred to the Assistant Secretary for Land and Minerals for whatever action 
he deems appropriate. 

/' 

) 

31
 




